

## HOUSE BILL NO. 337

INTRODUCED BY COHENOUR, NOONAN, MENDENHALL, ERICKSON, POMNICHOWSKI, EBINGER,  
FRENCH, HAMILTON, SMITH, BERGREN, GEBHARDT, SANDS, J. TROPILA, JOPEK, SONJU, KEANE,  
PERRY, STEINBEISSER, BLACK, STORY

A BILL FOR AN ACT ENTITLED: "AN ACT AUTHORIZING A COUNTY, A CONSOLIDATED GOVERNMENT, OR A MUNICIPALITY TO ESTABLISH A VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS' DISABILITY INCOME INSURANCE ACCOUNT; AUTHORIZING A COUNTY, A CONSOLIDATED GOVERNMENT, OR A MUNICIPALITY TO LEVY A TAX, SUBJECT TO VOTER APPROVAL, ON PROPERTY TO PURCHASE DISABILITY INCOME INSURANCE COVERAGE FOR VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS; ~~LIMITING THE PAYMENT OF DISABILITY INSURANCE BENEFITS TO CERTAIN VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS~~; AMENDING SECTIONS 7-33-2109, 7-33-2209, 7-33-2403, 7-33-4109, AND 7-33-4111, AND ~~39-71-118~~; MCA; AND PROVIDING AN IMMEDIATE EFFECTIVE DATE."

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MONTANA:

NEW SECTION. Section 1. Disability INCOME insurance authorized -- VOTED LEVY -- FUND. (1)  
DISABILITY INCOME INSURANCE, AS DEFINED IN 33-1-235, PURCHASED FOR VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS MUST PROVIDE THAT:

(A) PAYMENTS OR BENEFITS ARE PAID ONLY IF THE FIREFIGHTER IS RECEIVING COMPENSATION UNDER WORKERS' COMPENSATION FOR AN INJURY RECEIVED AS A VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTER; AND

(B) THE DURATION OF PAYMENTS OR BENEFITS MAY NOT EXCEED THE LESSER OF 1 YEAR OR UNTIL THE ~~WORKERS' COMPENSATION~~ TREATING PHYSICIAN DETERMINES THAT THE BENEFICIARY IS NO LONGER DISABLED.

(2) ~~The~~ IF THE VOTERS HAVE APPROVED A LEVY FOR THE PURCHASE OF VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS' DISABILITY INCOME INSURANCE, THE governing body of a local government entity may establish a volunteer firefighters' disability INCOME insurance account. The governing body may hold money in the account for any time period considered appropriate by the governing body. Money held in the account may not be considered as cash balance for the purpose of reducing mill levies.

(~~2~~)(3) Money may be expended from the account to purchase disability INCOME insurance coverage ~~MEETING THE PROVISIONS OF SUBSECTION (1)~~ for volunteer firefighters organized or deployed pursuant to any of the provisions of Title 7, chapter 33, parts 21 through 24 or 41.

~~(3)~~(4) Money in the account must be invested as provided by law. Interest and income from the investment of money in the account must be credited to the account.

**Section 2.** Section 7-33-2109, MCA, is amended to read:

**"7-33-2109. Tax levy, debt incurrence, and bonds authorized -- VOTED LEVY FOR DISABILITY INCOME COVERAGE.** (1) At the time of the annual levy of taxes, the board of county commissioners may, subject to 15-10-420, levy a special tax upon all property within a rural fire district for the purpose of buying or maintaining fire protection facilities, including real property, and apparatus, including emergency response apparatus, for the district, ~~for the purpose of buying disability insurance coverage for the volunteer firefighters of the district,~~ or for the purpose of paying to a city, town, or private fire service the consideration provided for in any contract with the council of the city, town, or private fire service for the purpose of furnishing fire protection service to property within the district. The tax must be collected as are other taxes.

(2) SUBJECT TO 15-10-425, THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS MAY LEVY A TAX UPON ALL TAXABLE PROPERTY WITHIN A RURAL FIRE DISTRICT FOR THE PURPOSE OF PURCHASING DISABILITY INCOME INSURANCE COVERAGE FOR THE VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS OF THE DISTRICT AS PROVIDED IN [SECTION 1].

~~(2)~~(3) The board of county commissioners or the trustees, if the district is governed by trustees, may pledge the income of the district, subject to the requirements and limitations of 7-33-2105(3), to secure financing necessary to procure equipment and buildings, including real property, to house the equipment.

~~(3)~~(4) In addition to the levy authorized in subsection (1), a district may borrow money by the issuance of bonds to provide funds for the payment of all or part of the cost of buying or maintaining fire protection facilities, including real property, and apparatus, including emergency response apparatus, for the district.

~~(4)~~(5) The amount of debt incurred pursuant to subsection ~~(2)~~ (3) and the amount of bonds issued pursuant to subsection ~~(3)~~ (4) and outstanding at any time may not exceed 1.1% of the total assessed value of taxable property, determined as provided in 15-8-111, within the district, as ascertained by the most recent assessment for state and county taxes prior to the incurrence of debt or the issuance of the bonds.

~~(5)~~(6) The bonds must be authorized, sold, and issued and provisions must be made for their payment in the manner and subject to the conditions and limitations prescribed for the issuance of bonds by counties under Title 7, chapter 7, part 22."

**Section 3.** Section 7-33-2209, MCA, is amended to read:

**"7-33-2209. Finance of fire control activities -- VOTED LEVY FOR DISABILITY INCOME INSURANCE.** (1) The

county governing body may:

~~— (a) appropriate funds for the purchase, care, and maintenance of firefighting equipment or for the payment of wages in prevention, detection, and suppression of fires; and~~

~~— (b) purchase disability insurance coverage for volunteer firefighters of volunteer rural fire control crews and county volunteer fire companies.~~

(2) Subject to 15-10-420, if the general fund is budgeted to the full limit, the county governing body may, at any time fixed by law for levy and assessment of taxes, levy a tax for the purposes of subsection (1).

(3) SUBJECT TO 15-10-425, THE COUNTY GOVERNING BODY MAY LEVY A TAX FOR THE PURPOSE OF PURCHASING DISABILITY INCOME INSURANCE COVERAGE FOR VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS OF VOLUNTEER RURAL FIRE CONTROL CREWS AND COUNTY VOLUNTEER FIRE COMPANIES AS PROVIDED IN [SECTION 1]."

**Section 4.** Section 7-33-2403, MCA, is amended to read:

**"7-33-2403. Operation of fire service area -- VOTED LEVY FOR DISABILITY INCOME INSURANCE.** (1)

Whenever the board of county commissioners has established a fire service area, the commissioners may:

(a) govern and manage the affairs of the area;

(b) appoint five qualified trustees to govern and manage the affairs of the area; or

(c) authorize the election of five qualified trustees to govern and manage the affairs of the area. The term of office and procedures for nomination and election are the same as those provided for election of rural fire district trustees in 7-33-2106.

(2) The SUBJECT TO 15-10-425, THE commissioners may levy a tax upon all property within the county for the purpose of buying disability INCOME insurance coverage for volunteer firefighters deployed within the fire service area AS PROVIDED IN [SECTION 1].

~~(2)~~(3) If the commissioners appoint trustees under subsection (1), the provisions of 7-33-2105 apply and 7-33-2106 applies whether the trustees are elected or appointed, except that the trustees shall prepare annual budgets and request a schedule of rates for the budget."

**Section 5.** Section 7-33-4109, MCA, is amended to read:

**"7-33-4109. Supplementary volunteer fire department authorized for cities of second class -- VOTED LEVY FOR DISABILITY INCOME INSURANCE.** (1) In addition to a paid department, the city council, city commission, or other governing body in cities of the second class may make provision for a volunteer fire department.

(2) The city commission or governing department ~~shall be~~ is exempted as to ~~from~~ compliance with 7-33-4128 ~~insofar as the same may pertain to the extent that section applies to the said~~ volunteer fire department by way of penalties and infringements.

(3) A volunteer is ~~one who is~~ an enrolled member of the volunteer fire department, ~~and~~ assists the paid fire department, ~~who and~~ is eligible to serve only on the board of trustees of the fire department relief association of ~~such the city.~~ ~~(provided~~ However, not more than three volunteer members ~~are~~ may be on ~~said the~~ board of trustees); ~~but who shall not be.~~ A person who is a volunteer for the purposes of this section is not entitled to receive a service pension.

(4) The governing body of ~~said the~~ city may:

(a) ~~at its discretion~~ pay an enrolled volunteer firefighter a minimum of \$1 for attending a fire and a minimum of \$1 for each hour or fraction of an hour after the first hour in active service at ~~said a~~ fire or returning ~~any or all~~ equipment to its proper place;

(b) ~~subject to 15-10-420~~ 15-10-425, levy a tax upon all property within a fire district for the purpose of buying disability INCOME insurance coverage for the volunteer firefighters of the volunteer fire department AS PROVIDED IN [SECTION 1].

(5) In ~~the~~ attending of fires, any volunteer shall act and serve under the supervision of the chief of the paid fire department."

**Section 6.** Section 7-33-4111, MCA, is amended to read:

**"7-33-4111. Tax levy for volunteer fire departments -- VOTED LEVY FOR DISABILITY INCOME INSURANCE.**

(1) For the purpose of supporting volunteer fire departments in any city or town that does not have a paid fire department and for the purpose of purchasing the necessary equipment for them, the council in any city or town may, subject to 15-10-420, levy, in addition to other levies permitted by law, a tax on the taxable value of all taxable property in the city or town.

(2) ~~Purchasing disability insurance coverage for volunteer firefighters of volunteer fire departments is considered to be supporting volunteer fire departments for the purposes of this section~~ SUBJECT TO 15-10-425, A CITY OR TOWN MAY LEVY A TAX ON THE TAXABLE VALUE OF ALL TAXABLE PROPERTY IN THE CITY OR TOWN FOR THE PURPOSE OF PURCHASING DISABILITY INCOME INSURANCE COVERAGE FOR VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS OF VOLUNTEER FIRE DEPARTMENTS AS PROVIDED IN [SECTION 1]."

~~Section 7.~~ Section 39-71-118, MCA, is amended to read:

~~"39-71-118. Employee, worker, volunteer, and volunteer firefighter defined. (1) As used in this chapter, the term "employee" or "worker" means:~~

~~(a) each person in this state, including a contractor other than an independent contractor, who is in the service of an employer, as defined by 39-71-117, under any appointment or contract of hire, expressed or implied, oral or written. The terms include aliens and minors, whether lawfully or unlawfully employed, and all of the elected and appointed paid public officers and officers and members of boards of directors of quasi-public or private corporations, except those officers identified in 39-71-401(2), while rendering actual service for the corporations for pay. Casual employees, as defined by 39-71-116, are included as employees if they are not otherwise covered by workers' compensation and if an employer has elected to be bound by the provisions of the compensation law for these casual employments, as provided in 39-71-401(2). Household or domestic employment is excluded:~~

~~(b) any juvenile who is performing work under authorization of a district court judge in a delinquency prevention or rehabilitation program;~~

~~(c) a person who is receiving on-the-job vocational rehabilitation training or other on-the-job training under a state or federal vocational training program, whether or not under an appointment or contract of hire with an employer, as defined in 39-71-117, and, except as provided in subsection (9), whether or not receiving payment from a third party. However, this subsection (1)(c) does not apply to students enrolled in vocational training programs, as outlined in this subsection, while they are on the premises of a public school or community college:~~

~~(d) an aircrew member or other person who is employed as a volunteer under 67-2-105;~~

~~(e) a person, other than a juvenile as described in subsection (1)(b), who is performing community service for a nonprofit organization or association or for a federal, state, or local government entity under a court order, or an order from a hearings officer as a result of a probation or parole violation, whether or not under appointment or contract of hire with an employer, as defined in 39-71-117, and whether or not receiving payment from a third party. For a person covered by the definition in this subsection (1)(e):~~

~~(i) compensation benefits must be limited to medical expenses pursuant to 39-71-704 and an impairment award pursuant to 39-71-703 that is based upon the minimum wage established under Title 39, chapter 3, part 4, for a full-time employee at the time of the injury; and~~

~~(ii) premiums must be paid by the employer, as defined in 39-71-117(3), and must be based upon the minimum wage established under Title 39, chapter 3, part 4, for the number of hours of community service required under the order from the court or hearings officer.~~

- ~~——— (f) an inmate working in a federally certified prison industries program authorized under 53-1-301;~~
- ~~——— (g) a person who is an enrolled member of a volunteer fire department, as described in 7-33-4109, or a person who provides ambulance services under Title 7, chapter 34, part 1; and~~
- ~~——— (h) a person placed at a public or private entity's worksite pursuant to 53-4-704 is considered an employee for workers' compensation purposes only. The department of public health and human services shall provide workers' compensation coverage for recipients of financial assistance, as defined in 53-4-201, or for participants in the food stamp program, as defined in 53-2-902, who are placed at public or private worksites through an endorsement to the department of public health and human services' workers' compensation policy naming the public or private worksite entities as named insureds under the policy. The endorsement may cover only the entity's public assistance participants and may only be for the duration of each participant's training while receiving financial assistance or while participating in the food stamp program under a written agreement between the department of public health and human services and each public or private entity. The department of public health and human services may not provide workers' compensation coverage for individuals who are covered for workers' compensation purposes by another state or federal employment training program. Premiums and benefits must be based upon the wage that a probationary employee is paid for work of a similar nature at the assigned worksite.~~
- ~~——— (2) The terms defined in subsection (1) do not include a person who is:~~
- ~~——— (a) participating in recreational activity and who at the time is relieved of and is not performing prescribed duties, regardless of whether the person is using, by discount or otherwise, a pass, ticket, permit, device, or other emolument of employment;~~
- ~~——— (b) performing voluntary service at a recreational facility and who receives no compensation for those services other than meals, lodging, or the use of the recreational facilities;~~
- ~~——— (c) performing services as a volunteer, except for a person who is otherwise entitled to coverage under the laws of this state. As used in this subsection (2)(c), "volunteer" means a person who performs services on behalf of an employer, as defined in 39-71-117, but who does not receive wages as defined in 39-71-123.~~
- ~~——— (d) serving as a foster parent, licensed as a foster care provider in accordance with 52-2-621, and providing care without wage compensation to no more than six foster children in the provider's own residence. The person may receive reimbursement for providing room and board, obtaining training, respite care, leisure and recreational activities, and providing for other needs and activities arising in the provision of in-home foster care.~~
- ~~——— (3) With the approval of the insurer, an employer may elect to include as an employee under the~~

provisions of this chapter any volunteer as defined in subsection (2)(c):

~~———— (4) (a) The term "volunteer firefighter" means a firefighter who is an enrolled and active member of a fire company organized and funded by a county, a rural fire district, or a fire service area.~~

~~———— (b) The term "volunteer hours" means all the time spent by a volunteer firefighter in the service of an employer, including but not limited to training time, response time, and time spent at the employer's premises.~~

~~———— (5) (a) If the employer is a partnership, limited liability partnership, sole proprietor, or a member-managed limited liability company, the employer may elect to include as an employee within the provisions of this chapter any member of the partnership or limited liability partnership, the owner of the sole proprietorship, or any member of the limited liability company devoting full time to the partnership, limited liability partnership, proprietorship, or limited liability company business.~~

~~———— (b) In the event of an election, the employer shall serve upon the employer's insurer written notice naming the partners, sole proprietor, or members to be covered and stating the level of compensation coverage desired by electing the amount of wages to be reported, subject to the limitations in subsection (5)(d). A partner, sole proprietor, or member is not considered an employee within this chapter until notice has been given.~~

~~———— (c) A change in elected wages must be in writing and is effective at the start of the next quarter following notification.~~

~~———— (d) All weekly compensation benefits must be based on the amount of elected wages, subject to the minimum and maximum limitations of this subsection (5)(d). For premium ratemaking and for the determination of the weekly wage for weekly compensation benefits, the electing employer may elect an amount of not less than \$900 a month and not more than 1 1/2 times the state's average weekly wage.~~

~~———— (6) (a) If the employer is a quasi-public or a private corporation or a manager-managed limited liability company, the employer may elect to include as an employee within the provisions of this chapter any corporate officer or manager exempted under 39-71-401(2).~~

~~———— (b) In the event of an election, the employer shall serve upon the employer's insurer written notice naming the corporate officer or manager to be covered and stating the level of compensation coverage desired by electing the amount of wages to be reported, subject to the limitations in subsection (5)(d). A corporate officer or manager is not considered an employee within this chapter until notice has been given.~~

~~———— (c) A change in elected wages must be in writing and is effective at the start of the next quarter following notification.~~

~~———— (d) All weekly compensation benefits must be based on the amount of elected wages, subject to the minimum and maximum limitations of this subsection (6)(d). For premium ratemaking and for the determination~~

of the weekly wage for weekly compensation benefits, the electing employer may elect an amount of not less than \$200 a week and not more than 1 1/2 times the state's average weekly wage.

~~———— (7) (a) The trustees of a rural fire district, a county governing body providing rural fire protection, or the county commissioners or trustees for a fire service area may elect to include as an employee within the provisions of this chapter any volunteer firefighter. A volunteer firefighter who receives workers' compensation coverage under this section may not receive disability benefits under Title 19, chapter 17, or disability benefits payable under disability insurance coverage purchased pursuant to 7-33-2109, 7-33-2209, 7-33-2403, 7-33-4109, or 7-33-4111.~~

~~———— (b) In the event of an election, the employer shall report payroll for all volunteer firefighters for premium and weekly benefit purposes based on the number of volunteer hours of each firefighter times the average weekly wage divided by 40 hours, subject to a maximum of 1 1/2 times the state's average weekly wage.~~

~~———— (c) A self-employed sole proprietor or partner who has elected not to be covered under this chapter, but who is covered as a volunteer firefighter pursuant to subsection (7)(a) and when injured in the course and scope of employment as a volunteer firefighter, may in addition to the benefits described in subsection (7)(b) be eligible for benefits at an assumed wage of the minimum wage established under Title 39, chapter 3, part 4, for 2,080 hours a year. The trustees of a rural fire district, a county governing body providing rural fire protection, or the county commissioners or trustees for a fire service area may make an election for benefits. If an election is made, payrolls must be reported and premiums must be assessed on the assumed wage.~~

~~———— (8) Except as provided in chapter 8 of this title, an employee or worker in this state whose services are furnished by a person, association, contractor, firm, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, or corporation, other than a temporary service contractor, to an employer, as defined in 39-71-117, is presumed to be under the control and employment of the employer. This presumption may be rebutted as provided in 39-71-117(3).~~

~~———— (9) A student currently enrolled in an elementary, secondary, or postsecondary educational institution who is participating in work-based learning activities and who is paid wages by the educational institution or business partner is the employee of the entity that pays the student's wages for all purposes under this chapter. A student who is not paid wages by the business partner or the educational institution is a volunteer and is subject to the provisions of this chapter.~~

~~———— (10) For purposes of this section, an "employee or worker in this state" means:~~

~~———— (a) a resident of Montana who is employed by an employer and whose employment duties are primarily carried out or controlled within this state;~~



- ~~—— (b) a nonresident of Montana whose principal employment duties are conducted within this state on a regular basis for an employer;~~
- ~~—— (c) a nonresident employee of an employer from another state engaged in the construction industry, as defined in 39-71-116, within this state; or~~
- ~~—— (d) a nonresident of Montana who does not meet the requirements of subsection (10)(b) and whose employer elects coverage with an insurer that allows an election for an employer whose:~~
- ~~—— (i) nonresident employees are hired in Montana;~~
- ~~—— (ii) nonresident employees' wages are paid in Montana;~~
- ~~—— (iii) nonresident employees are supervised in Montana; and~~
- ~~—— (iv) business records are maintained in Montana.~~
- ~~—— (11) An insurer may require coverage for all nonresident employees of a Montana employer who do not meet the requirements of subsection (10)(b) or (10)(d) as a condition of approving the election under subsection (10)(d)."~~

NEW SECTION. Section 7. Codification instruction. [Section 1] is intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 7, chapter 6, part 6, and the provisions of Title 7, chapter 6, part 6, apply to [section 1].

NEW SECTION. Section 8. Effective date. [This act] is effective on passage and approval.

- END -

